RECEIVED

Nov 03 2025

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

Certiorari to Sumter County

Honorable Grace Gilchrist Knie, Circuit Court Judge

---

CHARLES SPENCER ANDERSON,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2025-001011

---

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

---

JESSICA M. SAXON  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

**

**ISSUE PRESENTED**

Whether the PCR court erred in denying relief where the record reflects Petitioner's *pro se* guilty plea was not voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently entered?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 20, 2018, at around 10:45 in the evening, officers responded to the Citgo on South Guinyard Drive in the city of Sumter. An employee – Mr. Patel – was working the register when a man wearing red pants, a black t-shirt, white shoes, and a black bandana covering his face came into the store. The man pointed a red shirt, which appeared to be wrapped around a handgun, at Patel and demanded the money from the register. Patel threw money at the man who grabbed some of it before fleeing the store. Patel recognized the man as a customer who frequently came into the store. He identified Petitioner from a six-person photo lineup as the individual who robbed him at what he believed was gun point. Petitioner was charged with armed robbery and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime (PWDCVC). The state asserted that Petitioner confessed to the robbery after being given his Miranda<sup>1</sup> rights. App. 69, l. 18-70, l. 19.

While out on bond for the 2018 incident, Petitioner was arrested for another armed robbery that occurred on May 3, 2019. The state alleged Petitioner entered the AutoZone on McCalla Road with a silver handgun, no face covering, wearing a black hat, black pants, and a red shirt. Two employees of the store – Mr. Rivera and Ms. Jones – were in the store at the time of the incident, and both were familiar with Petitioner, as he was a former employee. Petitioner was alleged to have directed Rivera to first zip tie Jones in the back hallway before having Rivera empty the register drawers and the safe. Once Petitioner had the money from the registers and safe, he was alleged to have forced Rivera back to where Jones was where he then placed the handgun against Rivera’s head and pulled the trigger twice. The gun did not fire, but

---

<sup>1</sup> Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966)

it clicked. As he was leaving the scene, he purportedly told Rivera and Jones<sup>2</sup> that he knew where they lived and that he would kill them. Petitioner was arrested a few days after the incident for armed robbery, kidnapping, attempted murder, and PWDCVC. App. 70, l. 20-71, l. 23.

Petitioner was indicted during the September 2018 term of the Sumter County grand jury for the 2018 incident. App. 298-299. Petitioner was purportedly indicted during the August 2019 term of the Sumter County grand jury for the 2019 incident.<sup>3, 4</sup> On September 28, 2020, the state, represented by Bronwyn K. McElveen, called the 2019 case to trial before the Honorable R. Ferrel Cothran, Jr. App. 1. At that time the 2018 incident was still pending.

Upon his arrest for the 2018 incident, Petitioner was appointed Timothy Murphy, the Chief Public Defender for Sumter at the time. Counsel Murphy left the public defender's office in December 2019 which caused Petitioner's case to be reassigned in October 2019 to public defender Jason Bridges. App. 180, ll. 8-19; App. 193, l. 22 – 194, l. 3. In January of 2020, Counsel Bridges moved to be relieved after a meeting with Petitioner ended abruptly when Petitioner purportedly left the room saying, "I have to leave this room or I'm going to hit you in the face." App. 199, ll. 11-16. At the motion to be relieved, Petitioner did not oppose Counsel Briggs' removal from his case. App. 199, l. 22 – 200, l. 3. Upon Counsel Bridges being

---

<sup>2</sup> It was alleged that he had also told Jones he would kill her children and that he had been outside of Jones' home the week prior to the incident. App. 71, l. 24 – 72, l. 2.

<sup>3</sup> The only evidence that Petitioner was true billed for the 2019 incident is the public index which shows a True Bill Date of 8/1/2019.

See <https://publicindex.sccourts.org/Sumter/PublicIndex/PISearch.aspx>  
Case Numbers: 2019A4310100291-294

<sup>4</sup> Curiously, the attempted murder charge reads that Petitioner did, on or about May 3, 2019, "with intent to kill, attempt to kill another person, Luis R. Solis *and/or* Ferris Jones, with malice aforethought..." App. 301.

relieved, Petitioner was appointed Justin Kata, a member of the private bar. App. 206, ll. 1-10. During a meeting where Counsel Kata was discussing Petitioner's plea and trial options, Petitioner purportedly told Counsel Kata he did not want Kata to represent him. After that meeting, Counsel Kata filed a motion to determine status of counsel. That motion was heard before Judge Cothran on September 16, 2020, and Counsel Kata was ultimately relieved. App. 8, ll. 5-10; App. 208, ll. 9-16. Petitioner ultimately represented himself *pro se* when the case was called for trial on September 28, 2020 – twelve days after counsel had been relieved. App. 1.

During the pre-trial motions hearing, Petitioner moved the court for a continuance because he had neither received all the discovery in the case nor had he been able to review all the discovery he had received. App. 3, l. 16 – 4, l. 14. The state claimed it had provided all discovery to Counsel Murphy, which was then transferred to Counsels Bridges and Kata, and all three had stated on the motions to be relieved that they had reviewed the discovery with Petitioner. App. 7, ll. 9-16. The court denied Petitioner's continuance motion. App. 28, ll. 4-5. However, to facilitate the case moving, the court and state set up a space in the courthouse for Petitioner to finish reviewing the video evidence in his case prior to selecting a jury. App. 45, l. 16 – 46, l. 7; App. 49, ll. 20-25. Petitioner also moved to continue the case for a few days to allow him to hire private counsel that his family had been speaking with about the case. App. 36, l. 24-39, l. 21.

Petitioner challenged the validity of his indictment. First, he challenged the indictment on the grounds that the state only had circumstantial evidence and no proof of an injury to support the attempted murder charge. He argued that for the state to secure an indictment without physical evidence of a crime required some form of deception of the grand jury. He also argued the indictment was facially invalid because it was neither signed by the grand jury

foreman nor true billed. App. 51, l. 13 – 52, l. 12; App. 53, l. 22 – 54, l. 17. The court did not have the original indictment, but the solicitor claimed the original indictment was in the drawer with the clerk's office. The court informed Petitioner that if the state could not produce a true billed indictment, then it did not have jurisdiction over the case, and the case would not go forward. The court withheld ruling on the challenge to the indictment until the original indictment could be produced. App. 53, ll. 14 – 54, l. 25.

Petitioner also moved to have the solicitor recused from his case because he had filed a federal civil lawsuit against her and believed that created a conflict of interest. He also believed the solicitor was personally biased against him. While arguing that motion, the parties discussed the amount of time Petitioner was facing. The state asserted Petitioner was facing 150 years on all his charges, which the court repeated, before the state corrected itself to say Petitioner was facing 130 years on all his charges. The parties then recessed so that Petitioner could review the video evidence and speak with private counsel. App. 55, l. 1 – 60, l. 12.

When the case reconvened after lunch, Petitioner entered a guilty plea to the 2018 incident and the 2019 incident, with the kidnapping charge being dismissed as part of the plea deal. The state recommended twenty (20) years' incarceration. Notably, the case that the state had called for trial – the 2019 incident – required Petitioner to waive presentment to the grand jury on all the charges. App. 60, l. 13 – 61, l. 22. The court did not inform Petitioner of his right to have the grand jury review the case but asked if Petitioner had any problems with the grand jury or the indictment. App. 64, ll. 12-17. During the plea colloquy, the court reviewed the maximum exposure for each charge and Petitioner's constitutional rights. App. 63, l. 21 – 69, l. 12. After pleading guilty, Petitioner was sentenced in accordance with the plea deal. App. 78, ll. 4-22.

Petitioner did not file a direct appeal. A *pro se* application for post-conviction relief was filed on September 23, 2021. Petitioner's primary complaint was that his guilty plea was involuntary. App. 80-104. The state filed a return and partial motion to dismiss on July 19, 2022. App. 105-120. An evidentiary hearing was convened on July 24, 2024, before the Honorable Grace Gilchrist Knie. The state was represented by T. Cruise Mitchell. Petitioner was represented by PCR Counsel Timothy Griffith. App. 121.

Petitioner testified that he was forced to plead guilty without the assistance of counsel and without ever reviewing all the discovery in his case. App. 128, l. 17-131, l. 4. He strongly contested the state's assertions that he fired his attorneys and stated the only attorney he had relieved was Counsel Kata. App. 129, ll. 5-16. He alleged that Solicitor Finney came to him during the break and told him "Okay. Here's your chance right here. You can do 15 years. You go 60 seconds to sign, or you can do the 150." App. 135, ll. 21-23. Petitioner testified that he had sixty seconds to decide whether to plead and be sure he would get home to his family or risk what he believed was 150-year sentence if he went to trial. He stated if he was aware of the proper sentence exposure and had adequate representation, he would have taken the case to trial because he felt there was no evidence he committed the crimes. App. 136, l.14 – 138, l. 12.

Petitioner testified that there was no evidence against him in the cases, as there was no forensic evidence in the cases. He further testified there was no evidence a gun was discharged or used during the incident, and that not one was injured, so he did not understand how he could have a weapon and an attempted murder charge. He also stated that the judge threw out the witness statements because they were inconsistent.<sup>5</sup> App. 138, ll.13 – 139, l. 19; App. 151, l. 13

---

<sup>5</sup> The pre-trial ruling by the judge was that the written statements of the witnesses could not be entered into evidence unless it was inconsistent with their trial testimony. He would not allow the state to enter the consistent written statement along with the testimony. App. 43, ll. 1-16.

– 152, l. 2; App. 153, ll. 17 – 154, l. 1; App. 161, ll. 13-21. Petitioner testified that he “really do wish I would have really went to trial with effective assistance of counsel. You know, because I actually how have beat it. It’s just, I just got scared with 150 years.” App. 166, ll. 2-5.

Counsel Murphy testified that during his meetings with Petitioner they discussed working out a plea deal to the 2019 charges. Petitioner maintained he was not involved in the 2018 incident. However, Counsel Murphy had not received all the discovery on either case and advised Petitioner he would not try to work anything out without the discovery. App. 181, l. 10 – 182, l. 7; App. 184, l. 16-18. He purported that Petitioner stated he was on drugs during the 2019 incident and that he had been diagnosed as schizophrenic. He and the state agreed to have Petitioner evaluated for competency and capacity to conform his behavior to the law. App. 182, ll. 8-24.

Counsel Bridges testified that he had received the full 2018 discovery and that he had received some of the 2019 incident discovery but could not confirm if he received everything in that case. App. 194, ll. 10-22. Petitioner had expressed some interest in a plea offer, however he wanted nonviolent, parole-eligible time with drug treatment. He confirmed the state never provided him with a written plea offer, but in discussions about potential pleas, the state wanted Petitioner to plead to at least the 2019 armed robbery charge. App. 197, ll.17-25. Counsel Kata testified that he received full discovery for both cases and reviewed it with Petitioner. App. 206, l. 23 – 207, l. 3.

The parties reconvened on April 2, 2025, to take additional testimony from solicitor Bronwyn McElveen and from Petitioner. Solicitor McElveen outlined the plea negotiations in the case with the lowest offer being eighteen years. She was willing to reduce the 2018 incident to strong arm robbery, reduce the 2019 attempted murder to assault and battery of a high and

aggravated nature, and dismissing the kidnapping. App. 229, l. 22 – 232, l. 7. She testified that discovery was delivered to prior counsel. App. 236, ll. 3-22.

On May 8, 2025, Judge Knie signed an order denying and dismissing Petitioner's claims. The order found that Petitioner's plea was voluntarily and knowingly entered. App. 282-297.

## ARGUMENT

The PCR court erred in denying relief where the record reflects Petitioner's guilty plea was not voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently entered.

The record reflects that Petitioner's guilty plea was not voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently entered because he was never advised 1) of the crucial elements of the offenses that he was charged with, 2) that he had a right under due process to have the indictment for which he was on trial, but subsequently pled to, presented to a valid grand jury and 3) that he only faced a maximum of 95 years on the 2019 charges that were called for trial.

The entry of a guilty plea results in a waiver of several constitutional rights, therefore the Due Process Clause requires that guilty pleas are entered into voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently by defendants. Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238 (1969). The United States Supreme Court has held that before a court can accept a guilty plea, a defendant must be advised of the constitutional rights they are waiving. Id. Our Supreme Court has held that, in addition to the requirements of Boykin, a defendant entering a guilty plea must be aware of the nature and crucial elements of the offense, the maximum and any mandatory minimum penalty, and the nature of the constitutional rights being waived. Pittman v. State, 337 S.C. 597, 599, 524 S.E.2d 623, 624–25 (1999) citing State v. Hazel, 275 S.C. 392, 271 S.E.2d 602 (1980) and Dover v. State, 304 S.C. 433, 405 S.E.2d 391 (1991). When determining issues relating to guilty pleas, the court will consider the entire record, including the transcript of the guilty plea, and the evidence presented at the PCR hearing. Harres v. Leeke, 282 S.C. 131, 318 S.E.2d 360 (1984).

There is no testimony in the record that any of Petitioner's prior counsels reviewed the elements of armed robbery, attempted murder, kidnapping, or PWDCVC with him during their respective representations. Petitioner's motions at the pre-trial hearing, along with his testimony

at the PCR hearing, evince that he did not understand the elements of the charges that the state had to prove. Petitioner repeatedly stated during the PCR hearing that he did not know how he could be charged with attempted murder when no one was injured nor a weapon fired. He also did not understand how he could be charged with armed robbery and PWDCVC when no weapon was recovered. Critically, the plea court did not cure this deficiency during the plea colloquy, as the court did not ever review the elements of the offenses prior to accepting Petitioner's plea. There is nothing in the record to reflect that Petitioner understood the nature and the crucial elements of the charges against, thus his plea was unknowingly, involuntarily, and unintelligently entered. See Pittman, supra.

Petitioner was on the trial docket for the 2019 charges. He challenged the indictment as insufficient because it was neither true billed nor signed by the grand jury foreman. The court did not rule on this motion but stated the case would *not go forward if there was not a true billed indictment*. When the parties reconvened, the state informed the court that Petitioner would be pleading guilty and waiving presentment on the 2019 charges. As Petitioner's challenge to the indictment was still pending, the court should have then ruled that the case could not go forward. At a minimum, the court should have informed Petitioner of his due process right to have the indictment presented to a grand jury prior to accepting the guilty plea. See State v. Smalls, 364 S.C. 343, 613 S.E.2d 754 (2005) (Although an indictment does not confer subject matter jurisdiction, due process requires that a criminal defendant be properly served with a valid indictment.) Simply asking if Petitioner had any issues with the indictment or the grand jury, when Petitioner did not have advice of counsel, did not cure the deficiency. There is nothing in the record to reflect that Petitioner was informed of his due process right to have a valid

indictment, and without such advice, his waiver cannot be valid. Thus, his guilty plea was not knowingly, voluntarily, or intelligently entered.

Finally, Petitioner was misadvised about the amount of time he faced on the charges called to trial. The record reflects that Petitioner was told he faced 130-to-150 years' imprisonment. While Petitioner faced 130 years' imprisonment on all pending charges (the 2018 and 2019 incidents), he only faced a maximum of 95 years' imprisonment on the 2019 charges. There is also nothing in the record to reflect that Petitioner was informed that armed robbery carried a mandatory minimum of ten years' incarceration. While the plea court did explain during the plea that Petitioner was facing 65 years on the indictment, once the kidnapping had been dropped, he did inform Petitioner of the minimum sentence of armed robbery. Petitioner entered his guilty plea, believing that if he went to trial and lost, he would receive 130-150 years' imprisonment. This misunderstanding of his sentencing exposure was not corrected during the plea colloquy at any point. While Petitioner could have received 95 years had he gone to trial, he could also have received as little as fifteen (15) years.<sup>6</sup> See Ray v. State, 303 S.C. 374, 401 S.E.2d 151 (1991) (The reality of Ray's situation is, if convicted, he *may* face a sentence of seventy-five years without parole but could face a sentence as short as ten years.) Therefore, his guilty plea was not knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently entered.

Petitioner has shown prejudice in this matter. He testified that he would have gone to trial had he understood the sentencing range and if he had competent counsel because he believed could have won at trial due to the lack of physical evidence against him. Petitioner's case was called for trial the day he entered the plea, and he made pre-trial motions further