**RECEIVED**

**Mar 23 2026**

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Supreme Court

---

CERTIORARI TO SUMTER COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Grace Gilchrist Knie, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2025-001011

---

CHARLES SPENCER ANDERSON,

PETITIONER,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

---

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

TRAVIS CRUISE MITCHELL  
S.C. Bar No. 105682  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner is presently confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections as a result of guilty pleas to several indictments arising from multiple incidents in Sumter, South Carolina. On April 20, 2018, Petitioner committed an armed robbery of Frederick's Citgo gas station in Sumter. The store clerk identified Petitioner from a photographic lineup and noted that Petitioner was a frequent customer of the store. (App. pp. 69–70). As a result of this, the Sumter County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner during its September 2018 term for armed robbery (2018-GS-43-0890 Ct. 1) and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime (2018-GS-43-0890 Ct. 2). Petitioner was arrested and subsequently released on bond.

Thereafter, on May 3, 2019, while he was out on bond, Petitioner committed another armed robbery of an Auto Zone store in Sumter where he used to be employed. According to the victims, Petitioner entered the store without anything concealing his identity and they were immediately able to identify Petitioner as the robber. During the commission of this armed robbery, Petitioner forced an employee to zip-tie another employee to restrain her, and then Petitioner held a revolver to the head of an employee and pulled the trigger of the firearm. (App. pp. 70–72). As a result of this, the Sumter County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner during its August 2019 term for armed robbery (2019-GS-43-0810 Ct. 1), attempted murder (2019-GS-43-0810 Ct. 2), and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime (2018-GS-43-0890 Ct. 3).

Petitioner was originally represented by Timothy Murphy and Jason Bridges of the Third Circuit Public Defender's Office, as well as Justin Kata, Esquire, of the private bar. However, after all three attorneys were relieved as counsel for various reasons, and following a colloquy with the court, Petitioner made a knowing, voluntary, and intelligent decision to forgo his right to counsel and proceed *pro se*. Petitioner also evaluated by the Department of Mental Health for competency

and criminal responsibility and found both competent to stand trial and capable of conforming his behavior to the requirements of the law. (App. pp. 66–67).

On September 28, 2020, Petitioner appeared before the Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran, Jr., circuit court judge, for a pre-trial motions hearing. The State was represented by Deputy Solicitor Bronwyn K. McElveen of the Third Circuit Solicitor’s Office. At the start of the hearing, Petitioner moved to continue his case, citing an inability to review discovery. (App. p. 8). Assistant Solicitor McElveen informed Judge Cothran that Petitioner’s prior attorneys had all been provided with full discovery numerous times and she affirmed that she had delivered discovery to Petitioner personally at the detention center once he elected to proceed *pro se*. (App. pp. 7–8). Petitioner also referenced his desire to pursue motions to suppress all evidence, to dismiss the case, to quash the indictments, and to disqualify the Assistant Solicitor based on a purported conflict of interest stemming from a civil rights complaint Petitioner filed against her. (App. pp. 41–57). Judge Cothran either denied the motion or explained to Petitioner that it was not the proper time to make such a motion and provided him with guidance on the appropriate time to make said motion. (App. pp. 44–45; pp. 52–55; pp. 56–57).

After a break to allow Petitioner to confer with another private attorney he was considering hiring, Petitioner elected to forgo his right to a jury trial and accepted a plea offer from the State for a recommended aggregate sentence not to exceed twenty years of imprisonment for all charges.<sup>1</sup> (App. pp. 60–62). Petitioner waived presentment to the grand jury on his attempted murder indictment at his guilty plea and informed the plea court that he had no issues with the grand jury or the indictment. (App. p. 64). Following a thorough plea colloquy, Petitioner admitted his guilt to the offenses and Judge Cothran accepted his guilty pleas. (App. pp. 62–73). In

---

<sup>1</sup> As part of the plea agreement, the State also dismissed a kidnapping charge related to the 2019 armed robbery.

accordance with the plea agreement, Judge Cothran sentenced Petitioner to twenty years' imprisonment (twenty years of imprisonment for each armed robbery, twenty years of imprisonment for attempted murder, and five years of imprisonment for each possession of a weapon during the commission of a crime of violence). (App. pp. 77–78). Petitioner did not pursue a direct appeal.

Petitioner filed a post-conviction relief application on September 23, 2021. On July 22, 2024, a hearing into the matter was convened before the Honorable Grace Gilchrist Knie at the Sumter County Courthouse. Petitioner was present and represented by Timothy Lee Griffith, Esquire. Assistant Attorney General Travis Cruise Mitchell represented the State. At the evidentiary hearing, testimony was taken from Petitioner, Timothy W. Murphy (“Counsel Murphy”), Jason E. Bridges (“Counsel Bridges”), and Justin M. Kata (“Counsel Kata”). At the conclusion of the hearing, this Court allowed the parties to leave the record open for the testimony of Deputy Solicitor Bronwyn K. McElveen. The parties reconvened on April 2, 2025, at the Spartanburg County Courthouse for the additional testimony. Petitioner was present along with his counsel, Timothy Griffith. Assistant Attorney General Travis Cruise Mitchell again represented the State of South Carolina. Deputy Solicitor Bronwyn K. McElveen was present via Webex. At the hearing, testimony was taken from Deputy Solicitor McElveen and Petitioner. Petitioner placed into evidence three Exhibits.

On May 8, 2025, Judge Knie signed an order of dismissal, denying and dismissing Petitioner’s allegations with prejudice. This appeal follows.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

The post-conviction relief court's findings of fact receive great deference during appellate review and will be upheld if "any evidence of probative value" exists in the record to support the lower court's findings. *Sellner v. State*, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016). Questions of law are reviewed *de novo*, and appellate courts will reverse the decision of the post-conviction relief court when it is controlled by an error of law. *Id.*; *Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 180-81, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839 (2018).

## ARGUMENT

### **I. The PCR court properly found Petitioner's guilty plea was entered voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently.**

Petitioner alleges the PCR court erred in finding his guilty plea was not voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently entered, because he was never advised a) of the crucial elements of the offenses that he was charged with, b) that he had a right under due process to have the indictment for which he was on trial, but subsequently pled to, presented to a valid grand jury and c) that he only faced a maximum of 95 years on the 2019 charges that were called for trial.

To find a guilty plea is voluntarily and knowingly entered into, the record must establish Petitioner had a full understanding of the consequences of the plea and the charges against him or her. *Dover v. State*, 304 S.C. 433, 434, 405 S.E.2d 391, 392 (1991); *see also Boykin v. Alabama*, 395 U.S. 238, 243 (1969) (Courts must make sure defendants have "a full understanding of what the plea connotes and of its consequence. When the judge discharges that function, he leaves a record adequate for any review that may be later sought, and forestalls the spin-off of collateral proceedings that seek to probe murky memories."). In determining guilty plea issues, it is proper to consider the guilty plea transcript as well as evidence presented at the PCR hearing. *See Harris v. Leeke*, 282 S.C. 131, 134, 318 S.E.2d 360, 361 (1984) (finding the voluntariness of a guilty plea "is not determined by an examination of the specific inquiry made by the sentencing judge alone but is determined from both the record made at the time of the entry of the guilty plea and the record of the post-conviction hearing.").

- a) *Petitioner never alleged he was not advised of the crucial elements of the offenses he was charged with; thus, this issue is unpreserved for appellate review. Nonetheless Petitioner has failed to prove he is entitled to relief as there is no evidence in the record he was not advised of the elements of the offenses, nor is there any evidence he would have proceeded to a jury trial had he been properly advised of the elements*

In his petition, Petitioner claims for the first time that he was not advised of the elements of the offenses for which he was charged. As an initial matter, Petitioner never raised this issue in the proceedings below. In South Carolina, issue preservation requirements are a fundamental component of appellate procedure. *Gaddy v. Douglass*, 359 S.C. 329, 350, 597 S.E.2d 12, 23 (Ct. App. 2004). The key purpose of those requirements is “to give the [circuit] court a fair opportunity to rule on the issues, and thus provide [the appellate court] with a platform for meaningful appellate review.” *Queen’s Grant II Horizontal Prop. Regime v. Greenwood Dev. Corp.*, 368 S.C. 342, 373, 628 S.E.2d 902, 919 (Ct. App. 2006). Through their enforcement and application, the circuit court is guaranteed a chance “to rule properly after it considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments” so that the appellate court is provided with everything needed to properly review the ruling within the limits of the applicable standard of review. *I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000).

For an issue to be preserved for appellate review pursuant to our issue preservation requirements, the issue must have been: (1) raised to and ruled upon by the circuit court; (2) raised by the appellant; (3) raised in a timely manner; and (4) raised to the circuit court with sufficient specificity. *State v. Rogers*, 361 S.C. 178, 183, 603 S.E.2d 910, 912–13 (Ct. App. 2004). Based on those requirements, an issue cannot ordinarily be raised or considered on appeal unless it was first presented to and ruled upon by the circuit court judge. *State v. Freiburger*, 366 S.C. 125, 135, 620 S.E.2d 737, 742 (2005); see *State v. Patterson*, 324 S.C. 5, 19, 482 S.E.2d 760, 767 (1997) (“Appellant is limited to the grounds raised at trial.”). Petitioner never raised this allegation in

either his application for post-conviction relief or at the evidentiary hearing. Therefore, this issue is not preserved for appellate review. *See Hyman v. State*, 278 S.C. 501, 502, 299 S.E.2d 330, 331 (1983) (holding an issue that was not raised in the PCR application or at the PCR hearing is not properly before the appellate court).

Even if this Court were to consider the claim, Petitioner has failed to meet his burden demonstrating he was not advised of the crucial elements of the offense. There is no evidence in the record demonstrating Petitioner was not advised of the elements of the offenses for which he was charged. In a post-conviction relief action, the applicant bears the burden of proving the allegations in his or her application. Rule 71.1(e), SCRPC; *Butler v. State*, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). Notably, none of Petitioner's three prior Counsels testified at the PCR hearing that they failed to advise him of the elements, and Petitioner himself never testified he was unaware of the elements of the offenses for which he was charged. Therefore, Petitioner has failed to demonstrate his plea was involuntary on this basis.

Moreover, Petitioner has failed to establish prejudice. There is no testimony in the record indicating Petitioner would have insisted on a jury trial had he been advised of the elements of the offenses. *See Holden v. State*, 393 S.C. 565, 713 S.E.2d 611 (2011), *abrogated by Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836 (2018) (Finding no prejudice where Applicant never testified she would not have pleaded guilty if plea counsel had properly explained the elements of the offenses.)

*b) Petitioner clearly waived presentment of the indictment to a grand jury both orally at his guilty plea hearing and by written waiver in the form of his signature on the indictment and sentencing sheet.*

Here, Petitioner waived presentment to the grand jury at his guilty plea and informed the plea court that he had no issues with the grand jury or the indictment. (App. p. 64). Accordingly, the plea court had no obligation to rule on the motion to quash the indictment and properly

proceeded with the guilty plea. *See State v. Tumbleston*, 376 S.C. 90, 654 S.E.2d 849 (Ct. App. 2007) (“A ruling on a timely objection, before the jury is sworn, that an indictment is not sufficient will result in the quashing of the indictment *unless defendant waives presentment to the grand jury and pleads guilty*”) (emphasis added).

In addition to his oral waiver, Petitioner executed a written waiver of presentment. He signed the indictment, attesting he waived his right to grand jury presentment, and also signed the sentencing sheet for attempted murder, further confirming the waiver. (App. p. 300; p. 305) *See State v. Smalls*, 364 S.C. 343, 613 S.E.2d 754 (2005) (“Signing a sentencing sheet for a charge to which a defendant has pled guilty constitutes a written waiver of presentment.”)

c) *Petitioner was not misadvised regarding the sentence he faced on his pending charges.*

Petitioner alleges he was misadvised regarding the amount of time he faced on his charges. This is without merit. Petitioner entered a global guilty plea which resolved both his 2018 and 2019 charges. During on-the-record discussions regarding a plea deal, the Solicitor informed Petitioner and the court that Petitioner was facing 130 years on all pending charges. (App. p. 59). Therefore, Petitioner was aware of his potential exposure on all of his pending charges.

At Petitioner’s plea, the court correctly informed Petitioner that he faced 65 years’ imprisonment for the indictments which he was pleading guilty. (App. p. 64). Additionally, Petitioner affirmed under oath that he was knowingly and voluntarily waiving his right to a jury trial, and that no one had threatened him or made any promises beyond the terms of the plea agreement. (App. p. 65; pp. 67–68). Applicant then freely and voluntarily pleaded guilty to the charges. (App. p. 73). Following the Solicitor’s recitation of the facts, Petitioner affirmed those facts to be true and admitted guilt. (App. p. 73). Because a guilty plea is a “solemn, judicial admission of the truth of the charges against an individual . . . , a criminal inmate’s right to contest

the validity of such a plea is usually, but not invariably, foreclosed.” *Dalton v. State*, 376 S.C. 130, 137, 654 S.E.2d 870, 874 (Ct. App. 2007) (citing *Blackledge v. Allison*, 431 U.S. 63, 74 (1977)); *see also Jamison v. State*, 410 S.C. 456, 469–71, 765 S.E.2d 123, 129–30 (2014) (observing that “guilty plea[s] must be treated as final in the vast majority of cases” and instructing that caution must be exercised so as not to “undermine the solemn nature of a guilty plea and the finality that generally attaches to a guilty plea”). This Court finds Applicant failed to “present[] [any] valid reasons why he should be allowed to depart from the truth of [the] statements” made during the plea proceeding. *Dalton*, 376 S.C. at 137–38, 654 S.E. at 874; *see Crawford v. United States*, 519 F.2d 347, 350 (4th Cir. 1975) (finding that the accuracy and truth of an accused’s statements at a guilty plea proceeding are “conclusively” established unless he makes some reasonable allegation why this should not be so), *overruled on other grounds by United States v. Whitley*, 759 F.2d 327 (4th Cir. 1985).

Once again, Petitioner raises an unpreserved issue and claims for the first time that he was not advised that armed robbery carries a 10-year mandatory minimum sentence. Petitioner never raised this allegation in either his application for post-conviction relief or at the evidentiary hearing. Therefore, this issue is not preserved for appellate review. *See Hyman v. State*, 278 S.C. 501, 502, 299 S.E.2d 330, 331 (1983) (holding an issue that was not raised in the PCR application or at the PCR hearing is not properly before the appellate court).

Preservation notwithstanding, this allegation is wholly without merit. Petitioner claims there is nothing in the record indicating that Petitioner was informed armed robbery carried a mandatory minimum of ten years’ incarceration. This is false. At the evidentiary hearing, Counsel Timothy Murphy testified to the following:

Q. You testified that Mr. Anderson was - - indicated he wanted a plea deal for the 2019 case?

A. Yes. He was - -

Q. So he - -

A. - - he was - -

Q. - - never indicated to you - -

A. - - he was adamant that he wanted to work out something. And now I will say this, his - - his - - I had to explain to him, “Look, you’re - - *you know, it’s an armed robbery. It’s a 10-year mandatory minimum. Okay?*”

(App. p. 185) (emphasis added).

Furthermore, Counsel Jason Bridges testified to the following:

And he also expressed some interest in - - in a plea offer, similar to what Mr. Murphy said. You know he - - he wanted a nonviolent parole eligible with a particular emphasis on drug treatment for everything. I - - I had preliminary - - I never got an official written offer from Ms. McElveen or anything like that. But I did ask her like if that would be possible. And she said at least for the 2019 case, *he would have to plead to armed robbery as charged, which, of course, that has a mandatory minimum of 10 years.* I think that’s what he - - he tried to explain about. But that was not an official plea offer.

...

No. I - - I told him, what the solicitor told me at best would be an open plea to at least one count of armed robbery. *And the best-case scenario there would be a 10-year sentence based on the mandatory minimum under the law.*

(App. pp. 197–198; p. 200) (emphasis added).

Clearly, despite Petitioner’s assertion to the contrary, there is ample evidence in the record demonstrating Petitioner was advised that armed robbery carries a mandatory 10-year minimum sentence. Because Petitioner had a full understanding of the consequences of the plea and the charges against him, his plea was entered knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently.

**CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, Respondent submits this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari, as the post-conviction relief court properly determined Petitioner freely, knowingly, and voluntarily pleaded guilty. Should this Court grant certiorari, Respondent requests the opportunity to fully brief the issue raised.